
 
2016 HUD CONTINUUM OF CARE  

SOLICITATION TO APPLY FOR NEW PERMANENT HOUSING PROJECTS  
PORTLAND/ GRESHAM/ MULTNOMAH COUNTY 

 
 

Seeking applications for up to $932,952 in annually renewable federal funding for one or more projects 
to provide permanent housing for people experiencing homelessness, with priority for projects that 
address housing and service needs among people with severe and persistent mental illness, people 
with a history of involvement in the criminal justice system, and/or survivors of domestic violence. 

 
Pre-applications due by email to erin.pidot@multco.us by  

Thursday, August 11, 2016 at 5:00 PM. 
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Informational Meeting:  
If you are interested in submitting a proposal, we highly encourage you to attend a meeting on  

Wednesday, August 3, 2016, from 12:00 – 2:00 PM 
at the Joint Office of Homeless Services, 421 SW Oak St, Suite 105, Portland OR 97204. 

 
 

QUESTIONS? Contact Erin Pidot at 503-988-2524 or erin.pidot@multco.us. 
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I. BACKGROUND 
 
Since 1994, the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) has used the phrase “Continuum of 
Care (CoC)” when referring to a federal stream of funding specifically intended to serve people experiencing 
homelessness. This funding was established through the 1987 McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act and 
reauthorized through the Homeless Emergency Assistance and Rapid Transition to Housing (HEARTH) Act of 
2009.  

 
Each year, HUD releases a CoC Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA) to which hundreds of communities across 
the country respond by completing a detailed grant application. In Portland, Gresham, and Multnomah County 
this brings in approximately $19.6 million annually to support ongoing operations of a variety of programs 
providing housing and services to homeless adults, families and youth. Because federal budgets for homeless 
services have increased only incrementally in recent years, this annual grant process has become primarily a 
means to renew 46 existing local CoC grants.  
 
For the last several years, HUD has made available limited new funds within its NOFA for new permanent 
housing bonus project(s) serving homeless individuals and families. See Appendix A for a brief summary of local 
permanent housing bonus projects recently awarded by HUD. 
 
In addition to HUD regulatory requirements and funding priorities, local decisions regarding use of CoC funding 
have been guided by local plans to end homelessness. In 2012, the City of Portland, Multnomah County and 
Home Forward convened a committee of diverse stakeholders to review data, listen to the community and learn 
from effective local and national practices. This committee was charged with reviewing and “resetting” the 
existing 10-Year Plan by building on its ongoing successes and charting priorities for new and continuing effort.  
 
The resulting framework, A Home for Everyone: A United Community Plan to End Homelessness for 
Portland/Multnomah County, identified the following guiding principles: 

• Prioritize vulnerable populations 
• Promote racial and ethnic justice 
• Use data-driven assessment and accountability 
• Engage and involve the community  
• Strengthen system capacity and increase leveraging opportunities

In 2014, the Cities of Portland and Gresham, Multnomah County, and Home Forward formally chartered the A 
Home for Everyone (AHFE) Coordinating Board to act as the governing board for local use of CoC resources. The 
AHFE Coordinating Board chartered a Resource Advisory Committee to rate and rank existing local CoC-funded 
projects and recommend new projects for submission in the CoC’s 2016 application to HUD. 
 
While any eligible applications will be considered (See Section II of this solicitation), in 2016, AHFE’s Resource 
Advisory Committee is responding to unmet need within three populations—people with severe and 
persistent mental illness, people with a history of involvement in the criminal justice system, and survivors of 
domestic violence—by seeking and prioritizing competitive applications that will most effectively address the 
housing and service needs of one or more of these populations.   
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II. LOCAL PRIORITIES FOR THE 2016 NEW PROJECT SOLICITATION  
 
This year, the Resource Advisory Committee is responding to unmet need within three populations—people 
with severe and persistent mental illness, people with a history of involvement in the criminal justice system, 
and survivors of domestic violence—by seeking and prioritizing competitive applications that will most 
effectively address the housing and service needs of one or more of these populations. In addition, the 
committee seeks projects that will leverage existing resources within the community and improve local capacity 
to provide integrated, cross-system services and support to vulnerable populations.  
 
Priority populations for the purposes of the 2016 new project solicitation  
 
People with severe and persistent mental illness 
The Office of National Drug Control Policy reports that approximately 30% of the national chronically homeless 
population has a serious mental illness. In Multnomah County, between 18 and 27% of the 4,500 people placed 
on emergency psychiatric holds every year are homeless. That means that 15 to 25 homeless individuals cycle 
through the local emergency psychiatric system every week.  

 
People with a history of involvement in the criminal justice system  
National data tells us that homelessness increases a person’s risk of incarceration, and incarceration increases a 
person’s risk of homelessness. This link is even more dramatic for people with severe mental illness. In FY 2016, 
800 people released from local prisons and 2,149 people released from local jails identified themselves as either 
without housing or in need of a subsidy or transitional housing placement. The Multnomah County Mental 
Health Court conservatively estimates that over 550 individuals served in FY 2016 were homeless or cited 
housing as a principal barrier. 
 
Survivors of domestic violence  
Domestic violence often contributes to or causes homelessness. According to AHFE’s 2015 Point in Time Count, 
45% of homeless women (and 26% of the homeless population at large) have been affected by domestic 
violence. This reflects a 24% increase from what was reported in 2011.  
 
Within and across these priority populations, the Committee seeks projects that demonstrate a strong 
commitment and demonstrated capacity to achieving racially equitable outcomes.  
 
Preference for projects that leverage existing resources and advance system alignment  
 
The Committee also seeks projects that align housing with other systems and leverage existing community 
resources. This includes, but is not limited to, linkages with: 

• Mental and physical health care systems 
• The criminal justice system 
• The domestic violence system 
• Other publicly-funded housing unit production or developments  
• Psychiatric care facilities such as the Unity Center  
• Employment supports 
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III. ELIGIBILITY AND AVAILABLE FUNDING 
 
HUD’s 2016 CoC NOFA was released on Tuesday, June 28. The NOFA, along with HUD’s CoC program regulations, 
provides detailed guidance regarding eligible applicants and available funding, but we provide a brief summary 
here. The NOFA allows our community to apply for up to $932,952 in new, annually-renewable funding for one 
or more permanent housing bonus projects. New project applications are limited by HUD to: 

• Permanent supportive housing (PSH) projects serving chronically homeless families and/or individuals.  
• Rapid rehousing projects serving people with shorter experiences of homelessness coming from the 

streets, emergency shelters or fleeing domestic violence. 
 
The eligible activities, maximum application amounts, and eligible populations differ slightly depending on which 
project type is applied for. These are summarized below, with additional detailed information in Appendices B 
and C of this document: 

  Permanent Supportive Housing Rapid Rehousing 

Eligible populations Chronically homeless families and 
individuals 

Any homeless individual or family from 
the streets, shelter, or fleeing domestic 

violence 

Maximum 
annual 
funding 

based on 
initial 

grant term 

1-year $932,952 

2-year $466,476 

3-year $310,984 

4-year $233,238 

5-year $186,590 

Eligible housing 
activities 

Permanent supportive housing, 
including: acquisition; rehabilitation; 
new construction; leasing; long-term 

project-, sponsor- or tenant-based 
rental assistance; operating costs 

Short-term or medium-term rental 
assistance 

Eligible supportive 
services All HUD-allowed supportive services; no specific budget limit 

Allowable Admin 10%       of      total      grant     award 

 
Funds for permanent supportive housing projects must exclusively serve people meeting the definition of 
“chronic homelessness” (see Appendix B), and generally must prioritize those with the longest histories of 
homelessness and highest service needs. Such projects can be part of a larger project or building that also serves 
other populations as long as CoC funding is not used for costs associated with units serving individuals or 
families who are not chronically homeless. Permanent supportive housing projects may include the following 
eligible activities (further described in Appendix C):  

• Acquisition, rehabilitation, or new construction 
• Operations costs of a permanent housing facility 
• Long-term tenant-, sponsor-, or project-based Rental Assistance 
• Leasing (including scattered-site leasing) 
• Supportive services 
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• Administration (no more than 10% of eligible program activities budget) 
 
Funds for rapid rehousing projects must serve people meeting HUD’s definition of “homeless” (see Appendix B) 
who are coming directly from the streets or emergency shelters, including persons fleeing domestic violence 
situations. Rapid rehousing projects may include the following eligible activities (further described in Appendix 
C):  

• Short-term (up to 3 months) or medium-term (3-24 months) rental assistance 
• Supportive services 
• Administration (no more than 10% of eligible program activities budget) 

 
Additional eligibility criteria for all new projects include: 

• Eligible project applicants include nonprofit organizations, states, local governments, instrumentalities 
of state and local governments, and public housing agencies. For-profit entities are not eligible to apply 
for grants or to be subrecipients of grant funds. 

• All proposed services must be new or an expansion of existing services. Proposed project funding cannot 
replace other funding sources. Projects must demonstrate cash or in-kind match of at least 25% of all 
proposed grant funds other than leasing funds.  

• Proposals may not combine project types, though an applicant may submit multiple proposals for 
different project types. In other words, a single proposal cannot include both permanent supportive 
housing and rapid rehousing, but an applicant could submit two separate proposals—one providing 
permanent supportive housing and the other rapid rehousing.  

• HUD’s 2016 CoC NOFA limits capital projects (acquisition, rehabilitation, and new construction) to three 
or five-year grant terms. Capital funding is not renewable.  

• Projects should use a Housing First approach (see definition in Appendix B), with housing that has 
minimal barriers and built-in strategies to promote success.  

• Projects must agree to participate in the appropriate coordinated access system(s) (i.e. Multnomah 
County’s systems for homeless youth, families, survivors of domestic violence, or adults). 

 
The AHFE Resource Advisory Committee is issuing this solicitation to seek pre-applications for projects that will 
be competitively selected. Selected projects will then complete a final application to be forwarded to HUD under 
the competition outlined in the 2016 CoC NOFA.  
 
Projects locally selected and forwarded to HUD may or may not be subsequently funded by HUD. In 2016, 
HUD has indicated that new bonus projects will be highly competitive. If locally-selected projects are not funded 
by HUD in 2016, they may be eligible to apply for funding under future CoC NOFAs.  
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IV. HOW TO APPLY  
 
Step 1: Read this pre-application solicitation in its entirety to determine if a project(s) is eligible for these funds. 
Potential applicants are strongly encouraged to attend an informational meeting on Wednesday, August 3rd 
from 12:00 to 2:00 PM at the Joint Office of Homeless Services, 421 SW Oak St, Suite 105, Portland OR 97204. 

 
Step 2: Complete the Pre-Application form (Appendix D of this packet). E-mail your completed Pre-Application to 
Erin Pidot at erin.pidot@multco.us by Thursday, August 11, 2016 at 5:00 PM.  
 

Step 3: The AHFE Resource Advisory Committee will review applications. We anticipate notifying selected 
applicants by Wednesday, August 17, 2016.  
 

Step 4: Selected applicants will be required to submit a full HUD Project Application for New CoC Projects in 
HUD’s electronic application submission tool, e-snaps, within two weeks of notice of selection. Joint Office of 
Homeless Service staff will be available to assist with electronic application submission. Selection through the 
local pre-application does not guarantee the project will be awarded funding, only that it will be forwarded to 
HUD as part of a national competition for funding.   
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V. LOCAL PRE-APPLICATION EVALUATION CRITERIA 
 
Priority will be given to projects that:  

• Seek renewable activities with a one-year grant term, as opposed to non-renewable activities and/or 
longer grant terms 

• Leverage dedicated cash, in-kind contributions or capital funding in the amount of at least 150% of the 
CoC funds sought. Leveraged resources can include funding from other homeless or mainstream services 
and capital funding for affordable housing or permanent supportive housing. 

• Address housing and service needs of one or more of the following three populations: people with 
severe and persistent mental illness, people with a history of involvement in the criminal justice system, 
and survivors of domestic violence 

• Align housing with other systems and leverage existing community resources 
• Demonstrate a strong commitment and capacity to achieving racially equitable outcomes 

 
Projects will be scored on a total of 90 possible points based on the criteria listed below. Lower scoring projects 
that will achieve the above priorities more directly may be selected over higher scoring projects that poorly 
address the above priorities. 
 

A. Need and Population Focus   
• Does the project specifically address a clearly identified housing gap/need not currently fully met by 

other community resources? Maximum points will be awarded for projects reducing housing barriers 
among people with severe and persistent mental illness, people with a history of incarceration, and/or 
DV survivors.  (15 points) 

• Does your project agree to participate in existing coordinated access systems (e.g. Multnomah County’s 
systems for homeless youth, families, survivors of domestic violence, or adults)? (5 points) 

• Does your organization demonstrate a strong commitment and capacity to achieve racially equitable 
outcomes? (10 points) 

B. Project Approach and Leverage 
• Does the proposed project align housing with other systems (i.e. health, mental health, criminal justice 

or other) or otherwise expand the community’s capacity to provide integrated services and support to 
vulnerable populations? (10 points) 

• Will the project effectively provide permanent supportive housing or rapid rehousing to the proposed 
population using a Housing First approach? (10 points) 

• Will the proposed project promote permanent housing placement, long-term stability, access to 
mainstream resources and increased household income through benefits and/or employment? (5 
points) 

• Is the proposed project’s approach cost-effective? How many households will the project permanently 
house with the proposed funding? (5 points) 

• Does the proposer demonstrate capacity to successfully engage and involve the community being 
served by the proposed project? Is the approach responsive to the unique needs of the proposed 
population? Are any partnering organizations culturally-specific or other mainstream organizations with 
culturally-responsive programming and practices? (5 points) 
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• Is the proposed project well-integrated with A Home for Everyone or other efforts and planning 
processes within the community (either through organizational participation of the project applicant 
and partners in the A Home for Everyone Coordinating Board or subcommittees or workgroups, or 
through a proposed project that is directly responsive to A Home for Everyone priorities)? (5 points) 

• Does the proposed project effectively leverage other services beyond the available CoC-funded service 
funds? (5 points) 

C. Project Readiness and Budget 
• Among available funding sources within the community for the proposed activities, is the proposed 

funding source a good fit? (4 points) 

• Does the proposer demonstrate an ability to administer the program effectively? Is the project ready to 
proceed within HUD allowable guidelines? (6 points) 

• Does the proposed project seek renewable activities with a one-year grant term? (5 points) 
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APPENDIX A: SUMMARY OF RECENTLY AWARDED PERMANENT HOUSING BONUS PROJECTS 
 
For the last several years, limited funds have been available for new permanent housing bonus project(s) serving 
homeless individuals and families.  
 
In the 2015 competition, HUD made available bonus funding for the same set of purposes laid out in the 2016 
competition. Our community applied for and received $2.4 million in new federal funding for two bonus 
projects, and was one of only a handful of communities across the country that received full funding for all 
projects submitted to HUD in the competition. The bonus projects are led by Self Enhancement Inc. and include: 

• $2.4 million in new, annually renewable HUD CoC funding 
• Services through Sel Enhancement Inc, the Urban League of Portland and other community partners to 

address disproportionate rates of homelessness among African Americans  
• Rapid rehousing for 90 households (170 individuals) with a focus on serving families with children 
• Permanent supportive housing for 50 chronically homeless households (66 individuals) with a focus on 

adults with disabilities  
• Leveraged existing agency and partner capacity for intensive street engagement and community health, 

mental health and primary care services  
 
In 2014, our community applied for and received a $2 million bonus project grant, one of only 25 awarded 
nationally. The successful project was proposed by a collaborative led by Central City Concern, and includes: 

• $2 million in new, annually renewable HUD CoC funding 
• Leverage of more than $5.6 million in non-HUD funded services (280% leverage/match), including 

Medicaid-funded services from Health Share of Oregon 
• Services through a Central City Concern-led partnership including Cascadia, JOIN, the Native American 

Rehabilitation Association, and Transition Projects 
• Housing and intensive support services to more than 130 chronically homeless households, including 

disabled adults, veterans, and families 
 
In 2012 (the last time HUD made a more diverse range of bonus funds available), three new projects were 
funded locally:  

• Bridges to Housing (Human Solutions):  A project providing 15 new units of scattered site permanent 
supportive housing to high needs families experiencing homelessness through Bridges to Housing (B2H). 
(One-year award: $241,051). 

• Old Town Collaborative (Outside In): A permanent supportive housing project providing long-term rent 
assistance and case management to 31 individuals, expanding the capacity of an existing collaborative of 
federally qualified health centers and the local housing authority. (One-year award: $330,321). 

• Rapid Rehousing Bonus (Transition Projects): A rapid rehousing project providing short-term rent 
assistance to 26 households experiencing homelessness, with a focus on individuals transitioning from 
shelter and the day center at the Bud Clark Commons. (One-year award: $53,396). 
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APPENDIX B: KEY DEFINITIONS 
 
HUD’s Continuum of Care (CoC) Interim Rule defines eligible client populations and activities for CoC funds, and 
HUD’s 2016 CoC NOFA further defines eligible client populations and activities for new permanent housing 
projects. The following HUD and local definitions and concepts apply to this solicitation.  
 
Chronically homeless person: HUD defines a chronically homeless person as an unaccompanied homeless 
individual or family with at least one adult head of household who can be diagnosed with one or more of the 
following conditions: substance use disorder, serious mental illness, developmental disability, post-traumatic 
stress disorder, cognitive impairments resulting from brain injury, or chronic physical illness or disability; and 
who has either been continuously homeless for a year or more OR has had at least four (4) episodes of 
homelessness in the past three (3) years that add up to at least 12 months.  An episode of homelessness is a 
separate, distinct, and sustained stay in a place not meant for human habitation, on the streets, in an emergency 
homeless shelter, and/or in a HUD-defined Safe Haven. You can find HUD’s full definition of a chronically 
homeless person, here: Defining Chronically Homeless Final Rule.  
 
Coordinated access: The CoC Interim Rule requires communities to establish and operate a coordinated access 
system (also referred to as coordinated entry). This process is designed to coordinate program participant 
intake, assessment and provision of referrals. A coordinated access system covers the geographic area, is easily 
accessed by individuals and families seeking housing or services, is well advertised, and includes a 
comprehensive and standardized assessment tool. You can read more about HUD’s definition of coordinated 
access, here: 24 CRF Part 578.7(a)(8). 
 
Culturally-specific organization or programs are locally defined for the purpose of this solicitation as those with 
the following characteristics (adapted from Communities of Color in Multnomah County, An Unsettling Profile): 

1. The majority of members and/or clients are from a particular community of color, such as African 
American, Asian/Pacific Islander, Native American, Latino, African Immigrant and Refugee, and Slavic. 

2. The organizational or programmatic environment is culturally focused and identified as such by 
members of the community that is served. 

3. The organizational staff, board and leadership or program staff and leadership reflects the community 
that is served. 

4. The organization or program has a track record of successful community engagement and 
involvement with the community being served. 

 
Culturally responsive services are locally defined for the purpose of this solicitation as those that are respectful 
of, and relevant to, the beliefs, practices, culture and linguistic needs of diverse consumer/client populations 
and communities whose members identify as having particular cultural or linguistic affiliations by virtue of their 
place of birth, ancestry or ethnic origin, religion, preferred language or language spoken at home. Cultural 
responsiveness describes the capacity to respond to the issues of diverse communities. It thus requires 
knowledge and capacity at different levels of intervention: systemic, organizational, professional and individual. 
(Adapted from Protocol for Culturally Responsive Organizations.) 
 
 
 
(Definitions continued on next page)  
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Homeless person: HUD defines a homeless person as an individual or family who lacks a fixed, regular, and 
adequate nighttime residence, including any of the following situations (see full definition at HUD's Defining 
"Homeless" Final Rule):  

1. living in a place not meant for human habitation (like a car, park, abandoned building, bus or train 
station, airport or camping ground) 

2. living in a shelter, transitional housing or hotel or motel paid for with a voucher 
3. exiting an institution (like hospital or jail) where he/she resided for less than 90 days and resided in a 

place not meant for human habitation or an emergency shelter before entering the institution 
4. losing their primary nighttime residence within 14 days with no subsequent residence identified and 

lacking the resources and support networks needed to obtain other permanent housing 
5. some youth or families who meet other federal definitions of homelessness 
6. fleeing domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, stalking or other dangerous conditions and 

has no other residence or resources or support networks to obtain other permanent housing 
Note that the 2016 NOFA limits eligible households for rapid rehousing assistance only to homeless 
individuals and families coming directly from the streets or emergency shelters, and those fleeing domestic 
violence situations.   
 
Housing first: is an approach to homeless assistance that prioritizes rapid placement and stabilization in 
permanent housing and does not have service participation requirements or preconditions such as sobriety or a 
minimum income threshold. Projects using a housing first approach often have supportive services; however, 
participation in these services is based on the needs and desires of the program participant. Specific steps to 
support a community-wide Housing First approach include removing barriers to program entry, using a 
centralized or coordinated assessment system, using client-centered service delivery models tailored to meet 
the unique needs of each individual or family presenting for services, and prioritizing households most in need, 
and demonstrating inclusive decision-making that ensures that service delivery is both client-centered and 
culturally competent.  
 
Permanent Supportive Housing: An eligible subcomponent of the Permanent Housing component of the CoC 
Program. Permanent Supportive Housing provides assistance to individuals with disabilities and families in which 
one adult or child has a disability. Supportive services designed to meet the needs of the program participants 
must be made available to the program participants. Eligible activities include acquisition, rehabilitation, new 
construction, leasing, long-term rental assistance, operating costs, and supportive services. Activities are 
intended to provide community-based housing without a designated length of stay (see full definition at 24 CFR 
578.37(a)(1)(i)). HUD’s 2013 CoC Registration Notice indicates that the NOFA will limit new permanent 
supportive housing projects to those serving exclusively chronically homeless families and/or individuals. 
 
Rapid Rehousing: Another eligible subcomponent of the Permanent Housing component of the CoC Program. 
Rapid rehousing provides supportive services and short-term (up to 3 months) and/or medium-term (3-24 
months) tenant-based rental assistance to help homeless individuals or families, with or without disabilities, 
move as quickly as possible into permanent housing and achieve stability in that housing (see full definition at 24 
CFR 578.37(a)(1)(ii)) 
 

For more information on eligible activities within each program component, see Appendix C. 
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APPENDIX C: DETAILED INFORMATION ON ELIGIBLE COC PROGRAM COMPONENTS AND ACTIVITIES 
The CoC Interim Rule provides detailed information about allowable activities, documentation requirements and 
other regulatory requirements with which applicants should be familiar, and HUD’s 2016 CoC NOFA further 
restricts allowable activities and sets additional requirements. These regulations govern use of all grant funds 
under this solicitation. The regulations are summarized here, but the summary is necessarily abbreviated and 
incomplete. Applicants are strongly encouraged to review the Interim Rule and NOFA directly and in detail. 
 
ACQUISITION: Grant funds may be used to pay up to 100 percent of the cost of acquisition of real property 
selected by the recipient or subrecipient for use in the provision of housing or supportive services for homeless 
persons. Must request a minimum grant term of 3-years, but may request up to 5-year term. Funds are not 
renewable after close of grant term, therefore this activity is generally not prioritized locally.  
 
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS: Applicants may request up to 10% of project award for direct or indirect administrative 
costs such as accounting for use of grant funds, preparing HUD reports, obtaining audits, and other costs of 
administering the grant. Eligible costs are more completely described at 24 CFR 578.59 and 578.63. 
 
LEASING: Grant funds may be used to pay for 100 percent of the costs of leasing a structure or structures, or 
portions thereof (including scattered-site units), to provide housing or supportive services. Leased units can’t be 
owned by the recipient, subrecipient, or related organizations, unless HUD authorizes an exception. Rents for 
leased units must be rent reasonable, and may, under specific conditions, include utilities, security deposits and 
first and last months’ rent. Leases must be in the grantee’s name, not the assisted clients’, and the grantee must 
hold a sublease or occupancy agreement with the client. Occupancy charges or client rent may be charged, but 
must follow specific guidelines. Leasing funds may not be used in projects with acquisition, rehabilitation, new 
construction or rental assistance funds. Initial grant terms may be for 1, 2, or 3 years and are annually renewable 
after the initial grant term at a fixed amount. Projects requesting a 1-year grant term are prioritized locally. 
 
NEW CONSTRUCTION: Grant funds may be used to pay up to 100 percent of the cost of new construction, 
including the building of a new structure or building, an addition to an existing structure that increases the floor 
area by 100 percent or more, and the cost of land associated with that construction, for use as housing. The 
applicant must demonstrate that the costs of new construction are substantially less than the costs of 
rehabilitation or that there is a lack of available appropriate units that could be rehabilitated at a cost less than 
new construction. Grant funds may not be used for new construction on leased property. Must request a 
minimum grant term of 3-years, but may request up to 5-year term. Funds are not renewable after close of 
grant term, therefore this activity is generally not prioritized locally. Construction activities must begin within 9 
months of signing grant agreement and must be completed within 24 months. 
 
OPERATING COSTS: Grant funds may be used to pay the costs of the day-to-day operation of permanent housing 
in a single structure or individual housing units, including the following eligible costs: maintenance and repair of 
housing; property taxes and insurance; scheduled payments to a reserve for replacement of major systems of 
the housing; building security for a structure where more than 50 percent of the units or area is paid for with 
grant funds; electricity, gas, and water; furniture; and equipment. Program funds may not be used for rental 
assistance and operating costs in the same project. Program funds may not be used for the maintenance and 
repair of housing where the costs of maintaining and repairing the housing are included in the lease. Initial grant 
terms may be for 1 to 5 years, annually renewable after the initial grant term at a fixed amount. Projects 
requesting a 1-year grant term are prioritized locally. 
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REHABILITATION: Grant funds may be used to pay up to 100 percent of the cost of rehabilitation of structures to 
provide housing or supportive services to homeless persons. Eligible costs include installing cost-effective energy 
measures, and bringing an existing structure to State and local government health and safety standards. Grant 
funds may not be used for rehabilitation of leased property. Must request a minimum grant term of 3-years, but 
may request up to 5-year term. Funds are not renewable after close of grant term, therefore this activity is 
generally not prioritized locally. Construction activities must begin within 9 months of signing grant agreement 
and must be completed within 24 months. 
 

RENTAL ASSISTANCE: Grant funds may be used for rental assistance for homeless individuals and families who are 
not already receiving rental assistance or living in a housing unit receiving operating assistance through other 
sources. Rental-assistance may be tenant-based (tied to the program participant; able to follow the household if 
they move to another unit), sponsor-based (connected to a specific program), or facility-based (connected to a 
specific unit). Rental assistance funds may not be used in projects with acquisition, rehabilitation, new 
construction, leasing or operating funds. Initial grant terms may be for 1, 2, 3, 4, or 5 years and are annually 
renewable after the initial grant term. Projects requesting a 1-year grant term are prioritized locally. Renewal 
budgets are tied to the local fair market rent and will change annually. Sponsor- or project-based rental 
assistance projects must execute the grant award and begin providing rental assistance within 2 years. 
 

LONG-TERM RENTAL ASSISTANCE: The only type of rental assistance allowed under Permanent Supportive 
Housing projects, it may be tenant-based, project-based, or sponsor-based, and can include security 
deposits, first and last months’ rent. Long-term rental assistance is generally not time limited. Assisted units 
must meet local fair market rent and rent reasonableness standards, and tenants must have an initial one-
year lease. Clients must pay 30% of income to rent with income certification at least once per year. 

 

SHORT- AND MEDIUM-TERM RENTAL ASSISTANCE: The only type of housing assistance allowed under Rapid 
Rehousing projects, it may only be tenant-based, and can include security deposits, first and last months’ 
rent. Short-term rental assistance is limited to 3 months, medium-term to 3-24 months. Assisted units are 
subject to local limits on rent assistance amounts and durations, and tenants must have an initial one-year 
lease. In some circumstances, clients may pay less than 30% of income to rent. 

 

SUPPORTIVE SERVICES: Grant funds may be used to pay the eligible costs of supportive services necessary to assist 
program participants obtain and maintain housing. Eligible costs are more completely described at 24 CFR 
578.53, but they include annual assessment of service needs, assistance with moving costs, case management, 
child care, education services, employment assistance and job training, food, housing search and counseling 
services, legal services, life skills training, mental health services, outpatient health services, outreach services, 
substance abuse treatment services, transportation, and utility deposits. For rapid rehousing, supportive 
services cannot continue more than 6-months following the end of rental assistance. 
 

OTHER REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES: 
All projects must: 

• Document cash or in-kind match of at least 25% of grant funding for all activities other than leasing. No 
match is required for leasing. 

• Record client-level demographic, service transaction, and outcome data in the region’s Homeless 
Management Information System (HMIS), administered by the Portland Housing Bureau. 

• Enter into annual direct grant agreements with HUD, subject to onsite monitoring by HUD.  
• Submit annual performance reports to the local Continuum of Care and to HUD. 
• Comply with a range of other HUD regulations including detailed documentation of client and assisted 

unit eligibility standards.  
 

For all above, see the CoC Interim Rule and HUD’s 2016 CoC NOFA for more applicable regulations. 
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APPENDIX D:  PRE-APPLICATION FOR 2015 HUD CONTINUUM OF CARE NEW PROJECTS  
Due Thursday, August 11, 2016, at 5:00 PM to Erin Pidot at erin.pidot@multco.us. Electronic proposals only. 
Submit either in Word or PDF format. Please limit your responses to six (6) pages or less, not including budget 
attachment.  
 

I.  Project name:       

II.  Applicant(s) and/or Sponsor:        

III.  Because the Resource Advisory Committee may select one or more applicants, proposed projects may need 
to be scalable in scope and budget. Please indicate the project’s:  

a. Preferred amount of CoC funds requested: $       
b. Minimum amount of CoC funds acceptable: $       
c. Maximum amount of CoC funds acceptable (if different from preferred amount): $       

 

IV.  Contact Person:         

 Phone:       
 Email:       

V.  Select proposed eligible activities (choose any that apply): 

  Acquisition, Rehabilitation or New Construction  
  Leasing (project-based or scattered-site) 
 Long-term Rental Assistance (tenant-, project- or sponsor-based) 
 Short- and/or Medium-term Rental Assistance (tenant-based, allowable only for Rapid Rehousing Projects) 
 Supportive services  
 Operations of new permanent housing facility or units  

 

VI. Provide a brief overview of your project in one or two paragraphs, including the number of households you 
propose to serve. If the project is scalable, please describe how the project will differ if funded at minimum, 
preferred, or maximum CoC funding.  
 

      
 

A. Need and Population Focus 
1.  Identify the population that the project will serve, including demographic characteristics (e.g. race/ethnicity, 

gender) and needs for housing and supportive services. What outreach efforts will be used to identify 
people in need?  

 

      
 

2A. Describe how the proposed project specifically addresses the needs of people with severe and persistent 
mental illness, people with a history of involvement in the criminal justice system, and/or survivors of 
Domestic Violence? If it addresses another housing gap or need, please describe the gap or need and how 
the proposed project addresses it. (Applicants will receive higher priority if they propose to use funds for 
leasing, rental assistance or operations, rather than new construction, acquisition or rehab. Projects 
effectively providing permanent supportive housing or rapid rehousing to one or more of the proposed 
populations using a Housing First approach will also be favored.) 

 

      
 

2B. Participating in the appropriate coordinated access system(s) (i.e. Multnomah County’s systems for 
homeless youth, families, survivors of domestic violence, or adults) is a requirement of this solicitation. 
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Please confirm your willingness to participate in coordinated access or provide a description of any barriers 
your project faces to meeting this requirement.  

 

      
 
2C.  If the project proposes to serve households with children, sponsor(s) must answer “yes” to the following: 

a)  Does the project sponsor(s) have policies and practices that are consistent with, and do not restrict 
the exercise of rights provided by the education subtitle of the McKinney-Vento Act and other laws 
relating to the provision of educational and related services to individuals and families experiencing 
homelessness? Yes/No? 

b) Does the project sponsor(s) have a designated staff person responsible for ensuring that children are 
enrolled in school and connected to the appropriate services within the community, including early 
childhood education programs such as Head Start, Part C of the Individuals with Disabilities Education 
Act, and McKinney-Vento education services? Yes/No? 

 
3. Does your organization have a strong commitment to achieving racially equitable outcomes, and the 

capacity to achieve such outcomes? If so, how have you demonstrated this commitment and capacity within 
your organization(s)? 

 
 

B. Project Approach and Leverage 
4A. Provide a concise description of the project, including: a) the permanent housing where participants will 

reside (i.e. location, type, scale, and accessibility to community amenities including public transportation), 
and b) how it is an effective approach to providing permanent housing to the proposed population.  

 

      
 

4B. Describe the organization(s) involved, with a brief description of what each will do, past performance that 
demonstrates capacity and qualifications to serve the proposed population and/or administer the project. 
Are any partnering organizations culturally-specific or other mainstream organizations with culturally-
responsive programming and practices? 

 

      
 

5. Describe the type and scale of the supportive services that participants will receive. How will services be 
delivered? What other services will the project leverage beyond the available permanent housing bonus 
funds? Focus particularly on those services that will assist participants in: a) obtaining and maintaining 
permanent housing, b) accessing mainstream resources, c) increasing income through benefits and/or 
employment and, d) maximizing household ability to live independently.  

 

      
 

6. During a one-year period, how many people do you plan to serve and what are your proposed 12 month 
outcomes (i.e. 100 people served, 75% of all participants will maintain housing for 12 months)? How will you 
measure equity in access to services and outcomes? Are the proposed outcomes cost-effective for serving 
the proposed population? 

 

      
 

7.   Describe any new and/or expanded partnerships that will be created through the proposed project. What 
are the proposed role(s) of the new/expanded partners in the proposed project? 
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8.   Describe any broader community-level efforts or planning processes to which this project is aligned. 
Specifically, does the applicant organization(s) participate in the A Home for Everyone Coordinating Board or 
its subcommittees or workgroups? If not, how does the organization(s) involved in implementing the project 
participate in other community-level efforts or planning processes? 

 

      
 
9.  Briefly describe sources of match/leverage. What other resources does this project leverage?  
 

      
 
C. Project Readiness and Budget 
10.  If you are notified by HUD of a grant award in spring of 2017, when would the project be ready to proceed? 

If a construction project, when is construction scheduled to begin and end?  
 

      
 

11.  Attach your proposed annual budget for the program, using the attached form and your preferred budget. If 
your minimum and maximum acceptable budgets differ significantly from the preferred budget (or if you 
would deploy funds significantly differently under the different funding scenarios), you may submit multiple 
budget forms representing the different scenarios. 
 

Enter requested budget(s) by double-clicking on the embedded spreadsheet below.  
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2015 New CoC Project Budget Summary

Project Name:
Select Grant Term1:

Proposed Activities
CoC Requested 

Amount
Total Value Cash 

and In-kind  Match2

Total Value Cash and 
In-kind  Leverage3

Total Project Budget 
(CoC + Leverage/Match)

Acquisition -$                       -$                             -$                               -$                                       
Rehabilitation -$                       -$                             -$                               -$                                       
New Construction -$                       -$                             -$                               -$                                       
Leasing -$                       -$                             -$                               -$                                       
Rental Assistance4 -$                       -$                             -$                               -$                                       
Supportive Services -$                       -$                             -$                               -$                                       
Operations -$                       -$                             -$                               -$                                       
Subtotal Program Funds -$                       -$                             -$                               -$                                       
Administration5 -$                       -$                             -$                               -$                                       
Total -$                       -$                             -$                               -$                                       

Maximum Allowable Admin5: -$                       Required Match2: -$                                       
Requested Admin %5: #DIV/0! Percent Leverage3: #DIV/0!

1. Note that some activities are restricted to specific grant terms (see Appendix C). 15-year projects may only request 5 years of 
funding. Preference is given to proposals for one-year grants that provide activities that are eligible for annual renewal funding.
2. Projects must provide match equal to 25% of all  requested CoC funds other than leasing funds. Projects may not propose less 
than required match. Any match beyond required amount should be moved to leverage column. 

4. Rental assistance budgets must be calculated using the spreadsheet on the following page. No other method of calculating 
rental assistance budgets is allowed.
5. Projects may not request CoC admin funds totall ing more than 10% of requested CoC program funds, but may request less. 
Total admin, including match/leverage may exceed 10% of total budget, but only if due to match/leverage amounts.

3. Projects must propose leverage beyond required match. Projects proposing total leverage greater than 150% will  be 
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If requesting Rental Assistance budget, budget must be calculated using the worksheet below (double-click to access). No other 
method of calculating rental assistance budget is allowed. 
 

Project Name:
Grant Term (yrs):
Rental Assitance: $0

County/FMR Area:

Size of Units # of Units FMR # of Months Total Budget

SRO x $565 x 12 = $0

0 Bedroom x $753 x 12 = $0

1 Bedroom x $867 x 12 = $0

2 Bedrooms x $1,026 x 12 = $0

3 Bedrooms x $1,492 x 12 = $0

4 Bedrooms x $1,791 x 12 = $0

5 Bedrooms x $2,060 x 12 = $0

6+ Bedrooms x $2,328 x 12 = $0

Annual Total 0 = $0

Rental Assistance Budget Worksheet

Multnomah County, Oregon
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